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The Stirling Arms Hotel is the oldest continually licensed hotel in the historic town of Guildford, Western Australia, dating 
back to 1852. It has undergone many changes over time, and seen numerous publicans and visitors over 166 years.
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Stirling Arms’ Licensees 1852 – 2018

This history is presented in chronological order of the hotel’s licensees.

Charles Glass 1852 - 1855
John Welbourne 1855 - 1857
William Tregoning 1857 - 1863
James Herbert 1863 - 1865
William A. Rummer 1865 - 1869
Harry Percival Lyons 1870 - 1872
Malachi Meagher 1872 - 1877
William Wheatley 1877 - 1886
George Yates 1886 - 1887
Richard and Hannah Clark 1887 - 1896
Donald McDonald 1896 - 1901
Agnes and George Ireland 1901 - 1906
William Waldock 1906 - 1908
Edward Thompson 1908
William Gaddarn 1908
Margaret O’Haire 1908
James Hopkins 1908 - 1909

John Jeffers 1909
Neal McNeil 1909
J.H. Kendall 1909 - 1910
Hannah Cunningham 1910 - 1911
Ellen Carmichael 1911 - 1915
John Comer 1915 - 1916
Louis Claud Monck 1916 - 1921
Ben Hoffman 1921
Harry Haines and Family 1921 - 1966
Thomas Thirsk 1966 - 1975
William (Billy) Walker 1975 - 1983
T Moroni 1984 - 1998
Wayne Holmes and Heather Pritchard 1998 - 2003
Francis (Frank) Lunney 2003 - 2005
Donald Ryan 2005 - 2011
Nick Yurisich 2012 - 2017
Brendan Craig 2017 – Present
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Historic Guildford

The historic town of Guildford is the most intact town of first colonial 
settlement in Western Australia and possibly Australia. The town was 
one of the first three established in the Swan River colony in 1829, 

together with Perth and Fremantle. It is located on a peninsula of high 
land at the confluence of the Swan and Helena Rivers. The town could 
not expand beyond its riverine boundaries which flood in winter. The 
original 1829 town plan is still clearly discernible today with its grid 

street plan and central square. Guildford was to become a part town for 
hinterland agricultural areas and a commercial centre of significance.

In the 1840s, Governor Hampton determined to divide the central 
Church Square and created Mangles Street (now known as James 

Street). Meadow Street was created in the 1829 plan and ran north to 
south from the Public Landing Place in the north, now the site of 

Barkers Bridge, to the Commonage in the south, now known as the 
Kings Meadow Polo Ground. The land on which the Stirling Arms is 
located was subdivided from the Church Square and sold to local 

carpenter, builder and police officer, John Welbourne, in August 1850.

Sutherland’s Town Plan of Guildford 1829.
Courtesy SROWA Cons 3868 item 169

Chauncy’s Plan of Guildford Town site as marked on the ground in 1842.
Courtesy SROWA Cons 3868 item 172
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John Welbourne 1855 - 1857

Welbourne came out to the Swan River Colony in 1829 on the Marquis of Anglesea and was employed as a carpenter 
and builder by government and private enterprise. He was a member of the Guildford Town Trust in 1845, appointed 
Police Constable 1841-1849, was local postmaster in 1852 and undertaker from the 1860s-1870s. Welbourne died 

in 1892, a noted citizen who had taken an active role in the Guildford community for 63 years.

When Welbourne purchased Guildford Town Lot 142 in 1851, the east side of Meadow Street was as yet undeveloped 
but it was reserved for a Convict Depot and Government purposes. The Stirling Arms was to be centrally located in 
the Convict/Government Precinct. Work commenced on the Royal Engineer’s home in 1852, the Convict Depot and 
Commissariat Store and Quarters in 1853-4, Mechanic’s Institute Hall in 1865 and Courthouse in 1866. By 1855 

Welbourne’s new Stirling Arms Hotel was centrally located in the convict precinct.

Plan of Crown Properties on the Convict Reserve, Meadow Street, Guildford.
Image courtesy SROWA. Cons 3850, Item 25c Image of James Street, Guildford c. 1873, showing later plans for railway 

and location of buildings. The Stirling Arms is identified as ‘Hotel’. Plan 
shows the large hotel forecourt and adjacent Wood Butcher’s Shop.
Image reproduced courtesy SROWA, Western Australian Railways - 1 
Eastern Line, 1873. Cons 1649, Item 399

Plan of Crown Properties on 
the Convict Reserve, Meadow 
Street, Guildford.
Image courtesy SLWA. Cons 
3850, Item 25a
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John Welbourne 1855 - 1857

Charles Fitzgerald arrived in WA as its fourth governor in 1847, when the settlement was in an economic depression. He investigated and supported 
the introduction of convicts into the colony in 1850. To further aid economic stimulation and land acquisition, he sold off excess public land. Stirling 

Square was halved and part of the southern section (GTL 144) was retained for public water supply and watering purposes. Five lots: 140, 141, 
142, 143, and 145 were sold. John Welbourne purchased the newly created Guildford Building Lot 142 on May 6th 1851, containing six acres with 

a four chain frontage to James Street and five chain frontage to Meadow Street.

Grant Application for GTL 142, John Welbourne, 06.05.1851.
Image reproduced courtesy Landgate WA.

Certificate of Title GTL 142. Vol. 2 Fol.275, 28.08.1977.
Image reproduced courtesy Landgate WA.
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Charles Glass 1852 - 1855

Welbourne first called for tenders for 40-50,000 bricks in 1850 for his new hotel; building commenced and the hotel was completed and opened in 
1852 under Charles Glass as licensee. Glass arrived in the Swan River Colony with his family, as an indentured servant of Lieutenant Slade. He left 
his employer in 1849 to take up the licence of the Stirling Arms Hotel. After five years he decided to return to the land and purchased a grant near 

Newcastle (now known as Toodyay). He later found gold in the Yilgarn area and received a government reward.

The Perth Gazette and Independent Journal 
of Politics and News. 13.09.1850 p2

Flemish Bond Brickwork in Guildford with light 
header bricks.
Image courtesy Barbara Dundas. The Perth Gazette and Independent Journal of 

Politics and News. 03.12.1852 p1

Flemish Bond Brickwork from local clay.
Image courtesy Barbara Dundas.

The Perth Gazette and Western Australian 
Journal. 10.04.1841 p4

Inquirer. 15.09.1852 p1
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John Welbourne 1855 - 1857

The Stirling Arms Hotel was completed during a period of growth for the Swan River Colony, with the start of convict transportation in 1850. 
Guildford was established as a base for the Convict Depot work gangs which constructed numerous public buildings (Gaol, Courthouse, Mechanic’s 
Institute Hall), roads and bridges into the country areas of the Swan Valley and to York and Toodyay. With their ticket-of-leave, men could work for 

private individuals on farms, brick making and building and receive a wage. Drunken behaviour of travellers was one of the prime reasons for 
establishing a gaol in Guildford in the 1840s. The Convict Depot was established on the east side of Meadow Street in Guildford.

Guildford Courthouse, Police Quarters and Gaol in Meadow Street, north of James Street, Guildford, c. 1870.
Image courtesy SLWA. BL 2586B/19a

Guildford – plan after the railway from Fremantle passed through the town.
Image held by Landgate, Pub. Dept of Lands and Surveys WA. 1882, courtesy SLWA. 35/6/GUIL (1882)
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John Welbourne 1855 - 1857

John Welbourne took over the management of the newly named Freemasons Hotel in 1855 until a new 
licensee, William Tregoning, commenced in 1857. Under Welbourne’s Proprietary the hotel was also 
advertised as Stirling Arms and Welbourne’s Hotel. Thomas Woods was later to run a butcher’s shop 

located west of the Stirling Arms on GTL 142.

The Perth Gazette and Independent 
Journal of Politics and News. 
27.06.1856 p2

Inquirer. 21.03.1855 p4

The Perth Gazette and Independent Journal of 
Politics and News. 06.03.1857 p6

The Inquirer and Commercial 
News. 27.02.1856 p1

John Welbourne (left) with John Thomas Woods (right).
Image courtesy SGHS. PH2000.327
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William Tregoning 1857 - 1863

Tregoning continued the name of the Stirling Arms Hotel in 1857. In the 1850s there were already three other hotels in the small town (the Rose 
and Crown, the Guildford Hotel or Jones Inn and the Devenish Inn or Liverpool Arms). The newly opened bridge across the Swan River at 

Caversham (1854) opened up new opportunities for the hoteliers of Guildford.

The Perth Gazette and Independent Journal of 
Politics and News. 24.04.1857 p5

The Perth Gazette and Independent Journal of 
Politics and News. 15.04.1859 p5

The Inquirer and Commercial News. 
02.03.1859 p2

The Perth Gazette and Independent Journal of 
Politics and News. 27.03.1857 p2
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James Herbert 1863 - 1865

James Herbert took over the licence of the Stirling Arms from Tregoning in 1863. He extended the role of 
the hotel in the Guildford Community by supplying food for special events such as lunch in the field for the 

Guildford Cricket Club games and novelties such as portrait photographs.

Stirling Arms Hotel c. 1870
Image courtesy SGHS Photographic Collection P549-1

The West Australian Times. 
01.10.1863 p3

The West Australian Times. 
12.05.1864 p2
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William A. Rummer 1865 - 1869

William A. Rummer moved from his Assembly Room/Freemasons Hotel in Fremantle, having been declared 
insolvent. He took up the licence of the Stirling Arms and Freemasons Hotel in Guildford in November 1865 
from Herbert, who moved down to Fremantle. Rummer successfully ran the Stirling Arms from 1865-1869. 
He was an experienced publican, who did much to raise the profile of this hotel, including hosting lunches 

for cricket matches, and brewing his own house ale.

The Stirling Arms under Rummer c. 1860s.
Image courtesy SGHS. P421-1

The Inquirer and Commercial 
News. 03.10.1866 p2

The Inquirer and Commercial 
News. 10.07.1867 p1
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Harry Percival Lyons 1870 - 1872

In 1870 the Stirling Arms received its most unusual publican by the name of Harry Percival Lyons. Mr Lyons and his Rocky Mountain Troupe 
of performing acrobats arrived in Western Australia in 1869. They were a travelling troupe of considerable fame and a rarity in terms of 

the high standard of acrobatic performance they gave to West Australian audiences. It was with some surprise, particularly for the people of 
Guildford, that H.P. Lyons took up the licence of the Stirling Arms Hotel in 1870. He introduced a new era of entertainment and excitement 
into Western Australia and Guildford. One may wonder why Lyons stopped for a few years in Guildford on his international circuit, perhaps 

to give his troupe a rest or maybe to seek additional partners from his Guildford base.

Mr Harry Lyons.
Melbourne Punch. 31.10.1889 p4

The Herald (Fremantle). 25.11.1871 p1 The Inquirer and Commercial News. 
09.03.1870 p3
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Harry Percival Lyons 1870 - 1872

H.P. Lyons was keen to engage more than just the local community in his hotel business, he advertised as having first class accommodation 
for tourists, hosting weddings and providing accommodation for wedding parties. He organised a fireworks display in Stirling Square, pony 
races, and Boxing Day Sports. In 1871, Lyons teamed up with Wieland to form the Wieland and Lyons Circus. The hotel was now a place 
for events and gave his circus business a base much needed to reform on a larger scale and to promote his agency. The rear of the hotel 

grounds were used for training a performing pony named Fairy, and as a general circus. The first exhibition of the Wieland and Lyons Circus 
was in October 1872, when he joined with The Royal Victorian Circus Troupe, in the largest tent ever seen in WA. The circus performed in 

Perth, Fremantle, Guildford, Newcastle (now known as Toodyay), Northam and York.

The Herald (Fremantle). 09.12.1871 p3

The Herald (Fremantle). 
09.12.1871 p3

The Herald (Fremantle). 07.09.1872 p3

The Herald (Fremantle). 
25.01.1873 p2

The Herald (Fremantle). 02.11.1872 p3

The Herald (Fremantle). 02.11.1872 p3
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Harry Percival Lyons 1870 - 1872

The successful debut of the Wieland and Lyons Circus heralded the opportunity for Lyons to move on to greater 
achievements in the eastern colonies. In 1872 he sold the licence of the Stirling Arms Hotel and all associated 
possessions and furnishings. By 1877 he was internationally renowned, having taken his troupe through New 
Zealand; now was his opportunity to act as agent for the great circus performers and the name of H.P. Lyons 

was linked with the greatest performers and circuses in the world.

The Herald (Fremantle). 
21.12.1872 p2

The Herald (Fremantle). 
02.11.1872 p3

Cole Bro’s Poster.
Image source unknown. W.W. Cole’s Circus Poster.

Image source unknown.
The Perth Gazette and West 
Australian Times. 29.11.1872 p3

St. Leons Circus Waitara 16.11.1921.
Image reproduced courtesy NLNZ 
http://mp.natlib.govt.nz/detail/?id=95104

The Herald (Fremantle). 21.09.1872 p3
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Harry Percival Lyons 1870 - 1872
Lyons was most famous as an agent for the 

renowned tightrope walker, Charles Blondin, and 
rode on his back across Niagra Falls in the USA. 
He promoted many companies, both circus and 

opera, including The Cole’s New Orleans Circus, 
The Lyons Tourist and Pleasure Party, Johns 

Circus, St. Leons Circus (later known as Abbings 
and Stebbings), Ms. Rosalie Melville’s Opera, he 

partnered with Gaylord, Fryer and Fitzgeralds 
Circus in the USA, and brought out to Australia 
amongst the many entertainers, Fryers Circus 

and Equescarriculum, Carter the Magician, and 
burlesque entertaining such as Isle of Beauty.

Blondin crossing Niagra on a tightrope.
Image source unknown.

Blondin carrying gentleman on tightrope.
Image courtesy Blondin Memorial Trust 
https://www.blondinmemorialtrust.com/

Sketch of Blondin cooking an omelette on 
a tightrope.
Australian Town and Country Journal. 
15.08.1874 p28

Blondin portrait.
Image courtesy Blondin Memorial Trust 
https://www.blondinmemorialtrust.com/

The Daily News (Perth). 
27.06.1903 p1
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Malachi Meagher 1872 - 1877

Colourful publican Malachi (Miall) Reidy Meagher took over the licence of the Stirling Arms from 1872-1877. Meagher 
had been a civil engineer in Ireland. He was convicted of forging and uttering an order at the central London Law Courts 

in 1857 and given a sentence of transportation and penal servitude for eight years. He disembarked at Fremantle per HMS 
Sultana, as a convict in 1859. He received a Special Recommendation for his good conduct by the Superintendent Surgeon 

of the Swan River Colony and he was granted four months remission from his sentence. Meagher was granted his ticket-
of-leave from 1860-1863. When he received his conditional pardon in 1863 he became a free man. He married in 1862 
and subsequently leased the Sandalford Estate and later Bassendean Estate. He took up the licence of the old Guildford 
Hotel in East Guildford in 1870 and, with his wife, provided a welcoming hostelry. He transferred his licence from the 

Guildford Hotel to the Stirling Arms in 1872. Three of his nine children were born at the Stirling Arms Hotel.

The Perth Gazette and West 
Australian Times. 22.11.1872 p2

The Inquirer and Commercial News. 
16.10.1872 p1

The Inquirer and Commercial News. 
29.11.1876 Supplement p1

The West Australian Times. 
09.10.1877 p3

Malachi Meagher.
Image courtesy Allan Campbell as published in 
Carter, J., Bassendean: A Social History 
1829-1979 p59
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Malachi Meagher 1872 - 1877

An educated man, he took up prominent civil roles in the community as a member of the Guildford 
Municipal Council (1871-1876) and Chair in 1876. He was on the Swan Board of Education (1874-1876) 

and the Swan Roads Board (1871-1877 and 1885-1890). Meagher was noted for assisting friends in trouble 
by leasing properties, paying debts and outstanding bills for them etc. He also supported local social clubs 

such as the Swan Farmer’s and Tradesmen’s Society by hosting dinners and functions at his hotels.

View from Stirling Arms Hotel c. 1870 showing Warders Cottage, Convict Depot, Mechanic’s Institute Hall, Old Gaol and 
Clocktower on the Courthouse roof.
Image courtesy SLWA. 747B/2

The Western Australian Times. 
28.11.1876 p2

Guildford Municipal Council Honour  
Board, Guildford Library, City of Swan.
Image courtesy Rachel Squire.
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William Wheatley 1877 - 1886

Meagher’s licence was transferred to William Wheatley, who held it from 1877-1886. This was a period of great change in Guildford, as 
the railway from Fremantle was extended to a terminus in the townsite. In this time Wheatley extended and improved the Stirling Arms with 

unspecified additions and alterations to his hotel.

The Daily News. 10.11.1882 p3The Western Australian Times. 
20.09.1878 p2

The West Australian. 21.02.1882 p3

The Western Australian Times. 
30.11.1877 p3
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William Wheatley 1877 - 1886

The railway was originally planned to be extended through Stirling Square en route eastward. The good citizens of Guildford, and a number of 
resident politicians, had a specific Act of Parliament passed to prevent this occurring. This Act was to prevent the Railway Commissioner damaging 

the town square by having the railway cut through it; instead the railway was recommended to pass down the centre of Mangles Street (James 
Street) and right past the Stirling Arms Hotel.

1881 plan showing the railway located down James Street and the planned railway through south of Stirling Square.
Image courtesy SROWA. Cons 3868, Item 176

View from Guildford Railway Station late 1880s showing the railway 
curving east onto James Street. Note: Guildford Hotel to right.
The Daily News. 03.10.1950 p9

Image showing James Street looking west from Meadow Street intersection 
showing railway down the centre of the road.
Australian Town and Country Journal. 01.06.1895 p32
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William Wheatley 1877 - 1886

Wheatley advertised his commodious stable with a yard for 50 teams and 
cottage for teamsters in 1879, and in 1884 it was advertised as having 12 

rooms excluding the bar, bar parlour and tap rooms. The WCs and bathrooms 
were advertised as being upstairs. His wife’s failing health resulted in Wheatley 
advertising the hotel for sale in 1884, she died two years later in May 1886 and 

he retired and sold his licence.

Advertising sketch of the Stirling Arms Hotel in 1885.
The Pictorial Australian. 01.11.1885 p194

The Inquirer and Commercial 
News. 21.08.1878 p3 The Daily News. 26.03.1886 p4

The Herald (Fremantle). 
02.02.1878 p1

The Daily News. 16.06.1884 p3

The West Australian. 
19.08.1881 p3
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Golden Years in Guildford 1886 - 1897

The decade between 1886 and 1897 was a period of growth in WA with 
gold discoveries, a growing population and new subdivisions throughout 

the town of Guildford. George Yates took up the licence of the Stirling 
Arms Hotel in 1886. Wheatley had some difficulty selling the hotel as the 
new Guildford Hotel on Ellen Street (now known as Johnson Street) was 
constructed opposite the Guildford Railway Station. In 1897 Hiscox built 
a large state of the art theatre. With three hotels operating in Guildford, 

competition for customers was fierce and difficult for the two older hotels – 
the Stirling Arms and the Rose and Crown.

The West Australian. 18.11.1886 p2

The first Guildford Railway Station. c. 1882.
Image reproduced with permission of the Gardiner Collection

Guildford Hotel and Vaudeville theatre in 1897.
Western Mail. 10.12.1897 p127
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George Yates 1886 - 1887

Yates described his Stirling Arms Hotel as having five bedrooms and six sitting rooms, exclusive of those used by his family. His new landlord was 
Mssrs. Harwood and Smith for the Lions Brewery Company of Perth, Wheatley having sold the premises. Yates sold his lease in March 1887 to 

Richard Clark who became the new licensee for the Stirling Arms.

Plan of subdivision of part of lot 47, Guildford, bounded by Meadow, Helena, Mangles 
(James), and Olive streets, by C. Crossland & Co Auctioneer.
Image courtesy SLWA. BL b4636879 (Call No55/16/53)

The West Australian. 21.05.1887 p2

The Daily News. 17.03.1887 p3
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Richard and Hannah Clark 1887 - 1896

Clark and his wife held the licence for nine years and were popular publicans, however Richard died, aged just 33 years in January 1896, leaving 
a wife and three children. Mrs Hannah Clark successfully applied to have the licence changed to her name and continued running the hostelry. In 
1890 the Swan Brewery bought out the Lion Brewery and other properties, including the Stirling Arms Hotel in Guildford. That same year, further 

improvements were made to the hotel, including new roofing iron, perhaps to facilitate the sale.

Stirling Arms under Richard Clark c. 1895.
Image reproduced with permission of SGHS Photographic Collection P549-2

The Daily News. 28.08.1891 p3
The Daily News. 12.12.1891 p3

The West Australian. 09.01.1896 p4

The West Australian. 28.08.1890 p2

The West Australian. 
15.05.1896 p8
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Donald McDonald 1896 - 1901

Donald McDonald was granted a publican’s licence on December 12th 1896. In 1897 the railway line through Guildford was duplicated and 
relocated from down the centre of James Street to the southern section of Stirling Square, enabling safer and less disturbed transit for visitors and 
residents. A new railway station and cattle sheds were built opposite Hiscox’s Guildford Hotel, giving this hotel a strategic advantage. The State 

Government of the time agreed to beautify the town with plantings of sugar gum trees. These trees still line the streets of Guildford today, forming 
the largest formal planting in Australia.

Train passing through Guildford, carrying water pipes for the Mundaring water supply scheme c. 1905.
Image courtesy SLWA. 1797B

The West Australian. 
21.11.1896 p10
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Agnes and George Ireland 1901 - 1906

The Stirling Arms Hotel licence was transferred in 1901 to Agnes Ireland as proprietress and was listed in 
1904 as under the name of George William Ireland. This couple ran the hotel as a popular business until the 
death of Agnes in 1906 when the hotel licence was sold. A billiard table was acquired and demonstrations 

and games were popular under their lease.

The West Australian. 
19.08.1899 p1

The West Australian. 
10.03.1905 p6

Stirling Arms under Agnes Ireland.
Western Mail. 25.12.1902 p43
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William Waldock 1906 - 1908
Edward Thompson 1908
William Gaddarn 1908

The early years of the 1900s were challenging for the publicans of hotels in Guildford, as George Hiscox poured money into his Guildford 
Hotel, the licensees of the other hotels struggled to provide the best service they could in ageing buildings. These challenges were reflected in 

the changing and short-term publicans at the Stirling Arms Hotel, with some of not good repute. Following Mrs Ireland’s death in May 1906, the 
licence was transferred to William Waldock in 1906. In 1908, it was transferred to Edward (Teddy) Thompson. Thompson was heavily involved 
in racing, gambling and had a successful betting business, this seems to have had priority over the running of the hotel. His staff were unhappy 
and complained of being poorly paid. The licence was transferred to William Gaddarn in 1908, later he was charged with absenting himself 

from the hotel for 18 days and had his licence cancelled in August that year.

The Swan Express. 03.11.1906 p2

The Swan Express. 03.11.1906 p2

The West Australian. 
20.11.1907 p2

The West Australian. 
20.02.1908 p3

The Evening Star. 26.08.1908 p3

The Swan Express. 21.03.1908 p3
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Margaret O’Haire 1908
James Hopkins 1908 - 1909

Margaret O’Haire took over the Stirling Arms Hotel in September 1908 before transferring the licence to James Albert Hopkins, who became 
bankrupt during his period of management.

The Daily News. 
28.08.1908 p4

Stirling Arms under Hopkins 1909.
Image courtesy SGHS. P162

The West Australian. 
20.11.1908 p3
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John Jeffers 1909
Neal McNeil 1909

J.H. Kendall 1909 - 1910

Hopkins sold the lease of the Stirling Arms to John Jeffers in March 1909. In June 1909, Neal McNeil took over the publican’s licence. However, 
he was convicted of adulterating brandy and had his licence cancelled under the Excise Act in December 1909. The publican’s licence was 

transferred to J.H. Kendall, who held this licence for 12 months before selling it to Mrs Carmichael in 1910.

The Swan Express. 
20.02.1909 p3

The Swan Express. 
11.06.1909 p4

The West Australian. 
01.02.1909 p5

The Swan Express. 
17.12.1909 p3

The Swan Express. 
11.03.1910 p4
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Hannah Cunningham 1910 - 1911
Ellen Carmichael 1911 - 1915

In December 1910 Mrs Carmichael applied for a provisional licence of the Stirling Arms in the name of 
her cook, Mrs Hannah E. Cunningham, as she was to be away on a trip. The licence was granted on 
agreement that it would be transferred to her name upon her return. Mrs Carmichael was deemed a 

publican of good repute, having previously worked at the Rose and Crown Hotel. Under Mrs E.E. 
Carmichael, the Stirling Arms Hotel again became a place of note. Tragically a young man in her 

employ was killed by a kicking horse, the deceased’s father was Chaplain to the King of England and his 
brother a Consul in India. Mrs Carmichael successfully tendered for the publicans booth at the 
Guildford Easter Carnival. Brick alterations and extensions to the hotel were undertaken under 

architects Eales and Cohen of Perth in 1912. These extensions doubled the size of the hotel building.

The West Australian. 
24.11.1910 p2

The West Australian. 
18.02.1911 p8 The West Australian. 23.12.1912 p5

The West Australian. 29.10.1912 p1

The Swan Express. 
09.12.1910 p3

The Swan Express. 20.12.1912 p12

The Swan Express. 26.09.1913 p6
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Guildford During World War I

During the First World War, Guildford was a hive of activity as it became a military base. The 10th Light Horse was formed there, as well as the 
Headquarters of the Royal Australian Artillery WA, 13th Field Engineers and others associated with the Army Service Corp and Remount Depot. 
Guildford again became a boom town with hotel rooms and boarding houses filled to capacity with visitors from the country towns or eastern 
states, many seeking to enlist in the armed services. One such soldier was Frederick William Hartle, a 28 year old tothersider who worked in 
Perth as a draughtsman and resided at the Stirling Arms Hotel when he first registered on the Nominal Roll of the Australian Infantry Forces. 

Hartle moved east and enlisted with the 17th Battalion in NSW, he fought in Gallipoli and on the Western Front, disembarking in NSW in 1919 
and then returning to WA.

Guildford Anzac Certificate.
Image courtesy Guildford Association

The 38th Battery, the Royal Australian Artillery are welcomed to Guildford and their new 
headquarters in 1913.
Western Mail. 07.11.1913 p31

Breaking in a horse at the 10th Light Horse regiment camp, Guildford, 1915.
Image courtesy SLWA. 6494B
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John Comer 1915 - 1916
Louis Claud Monck 1916 - 1921

John Comer acquired the publican’s licence for the Stirling Arms in 1915 and held it for nearly two years, when 
the licence was transferred to Louis Claud Monck. In 1919 Monck, on behalf of the Swan Brewery, applied for a 

transfer of the Stirling Arms Hotel licence to a proposed hotel in West Guildford. The Stirling Arms at this time was 
struggling to be a viable business with competition from the newly renovated and extended Guildford Hotel. This 

proposal was met with grievances by both the West Guildford and Guildford residents. The West Guildford residents 
were concerned at the location of the proposed hotel on the corner of Kenny Street. The Guildford residents were 
concerned at the possible closure of an old and noted community facility. On September 3rd 1919 the Licensing 

Court refused the transfer of licence and Monck continued as publican of the Stirling Arms.

The Daily News. 15.07.1915 p1

Proposed additions and new frontages to the Guildford Hotel 
[technical drawing]. By Powell and Cameron Architects, Perth, 
1914, permission Cameron Chisholm Nicol.
Image courtesy SLWA. BL. b20631674

The Swan Express. 22.08.1919 p2

The Daily News. 
25.04.1916 p1

The Swan Express. 
29.08.1919 p4

The West Australian. 
03.09.1919 p8
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Ben Hoffman 1921

In this period, 1919-1920, Guildford mourned its lost and injured soldiers. The people of Guildford constructed the War Memorial in 1920 
and were presented with a War Trophy Howitzer Gun in October 1921. The Swan Brewery decided to further upgrade the Stirling Arms 

Hotel buildings with extensive brick two storey additions by architects Hobbs, Smith and Forbes. In 1921 Ben (Boris) Hoffman took over the 
role of licensee of the Stirling Arms. Under him the hotel was described by the Licensing Court as well conducted. In November that year a 

transfer of licence was sought by Harry Haines.

Guildford War Memorial 2017. The memorial was 
designed and sculpted by Pietro Porcelli, its foundation 
stone was laid by General Birdwood and it was 
unveiled in September 1920.
Image courtesy Barbara Dundas.

The Daily News. 27.04.1921 p7
The Daily News. 24.11.1921 p7

Mirror. 13.08.1921 p3

The West Australian. 26.04.1920 p1
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Harry Haines and Family 1921 - 1966

Harry Haines had successfully run the Railway Hotel in Midland and was a popular and respected publican. He ran the Stirling Arms Hotel from 
1921-1942, giving the longest period of stability for any publican at this hotel. Haines strongly advocated and supported sporting organisations, 

advertising his hotel as The Home of Sports. His staff were loyal to him and he engaged considerable local support from the community, be it 
sporting meetings or weddings. Haines’ generous nature saw the hotel donating to many charities, fundraisers, also prize trophies to various local 

sporting clubs. He was noted to have helped many a lane dog over the stile. Equally, Haines pushed his boundaries and was fined at times for 
offering drinks on Sunday or providing a place for betting. When Harry Haines died in 1942, his wife and son continued the family pub. His son, 
Charles, continued the hotel in the family name from 1949-1966. The Stirling Arms Hotel under the Haines’ was run as a family pub, it did not 
attempt to attract tourists but focused on the loyalty to the local community. In 1937, the Guildford Municipal Council constructed new Council 

Chambers and a Town Hall on the opposite corner on Meadow Street, increasing both the visibility and patronage of the Stirling Arms.

Westralian Worker. 06.10.1922 p2

The West Australian. 08.03.1941 p16

The Daily News. 22.01.1945 p9

The West Australian. 01.12.1942 p1

1948 Map of Guildford.
Image courtesy Landgate (2017). Guildford 
MIS84_14_4380

Guildford Council Chambers and Town Hall in 1940.
Image courtesy Midland Local History Collection, Midland Public 
Library. Source: West Australian Newspaper c. 1940

The West Australian. 08.02.1923 p9

The West Australian. 15.10.1941 p2
The West Australian. 16.11.1945 p1
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Guildford During World War II
The Haines family saw their son join the RAAF, serve overseas and return. They 
shared the pains and anxieties of many of their patrons in this war time period.

Guildford continued as a military base during WWII. The whole town was again 
involved in a war effort with children collecting rushes, and the Red Cross functions 
in the Mechanics Hall. The town donated scrap iron including iron lace work from 

homes and WWI Trophy Howitzer for scrap. The Federal Government 
commissioned land in South Guildford for an Air Force base. Guildford Grammar 

School was also requisitioned for a Military Hospital for American servicemen, whilst 
students were relocated to the country.

A number of families and schools relocated away from the Perth metropolitan area 
following the Japanese bombing of Pearl Harbour (07.12.1941), Darwin 

(20.02.1942) and Broome (03.03.1942). US servicemen from the Pacific moved into 
the Guildford Grammar School grounds and the school chapel roofs were 

painted with red crosses. There were 26 incidents at the Guildford Military Air Base 
between 1942-1944 and four incidents involving air to ground crashes.

The Daily News. 06.07.1946 p10

Great Southern Herald. 
13.06.1947 p5

5th Station Hospital, United States Army, Guildford, Western 
Australia, 25 July 1942.
Image courtesy SLWA. BA2586

5th Station Hospital, United States Army, Guildford, Western 
Australia, 25 July 1942.
Image courtesy SLWA. BA2586
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Thomas Thirsk 1966 - 1975
William (Billy) Walker 1975 - 1983

When Thomas Thirsk took over the Stirling Arms Hotel in 1966, the town was in decline, the population was ageing and competition between the 
town’s four hotels reduced business viability. It was not until William (Billy) Walker, Swan Districts football hero took over the hotel and developed 

direct links between the hotel and football club, that the business again became invigorated. Walker held the licence of the Stirling Arms from 1975 
to 1983. He installed a drive-in sales area and new lounge facilities. Walker represented the Swan Districts Football Club in the Western Australian 
National Football League (WANFL) and was the winner of the 1965, 1966, 1967 and 1970 Sandover Medals. A bottle shop was added to the front 
of the Stirling Arms and a TAB building to the west, changing the form and character of the building. During this period the hotel was known as a 

sportsmen’s hotel and a meeting place for Swan Districts Football Club members and supporters.

Western Mail. 09.08.1951 
p25

William (Billy) Walker.
Image courtesy Swan Districts Football Club

Stirling Arms in 1969.
Image courtesy SLWA Battye Photographic Collection 113147PD
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Tony Moroni 1984 - 1998
Wayne Holmes and Heather Pritchard 1998 - 2003

Francis (Frank) Lunney 2003 - 2005

Donald Ryan 2005 - 2011
Nick Yurisich 2012 - 2017

Between 1984 and 2011 the Stirling Arms Hotel experienced difficult 
years. The Rose and Crown, Guildford Hotel and Woodbridge Tavern 

underwent extensive restoration and refurbishment and provided 
considerable competition. With growing interest in the historic town of 

Guildford, these hotels attracted both local and outside patronage. 
The TAB attached to the Stirling Arms Hotel did little to provide the extra 

customer base needed and was converted into a lounge area for the 
hotel. The Swan Districts Football Club developed their own bar and 
club facilities and the patronage at the Stirling Arms dwindled despite 
the best efforts of the publicans. Holmes and Pritchard held the licence 

between 1998-2003 when it was transferred to the Lunneys from 2003-
2005. Antisocial behaviour and street drinking became a considerable 
problem in 2009-2011, resulting in the publican receiving heavy fines 

and severe licensing conditions being placed on the hotel management. 
In 2009 the Guildford Hotel burnt down and this increased patronage 

for a period.

In 2012 Nick Yurisich, from an old Guildford family, took over the hotel 
licence and worked to place the hotel back into the recognised town 

history, as the Stirling Arms is the hotel with the longest continual licence 
in Guildford. Yurisich worked with community groups and sought to 
develop a family-friendly environment. The restored Guildford Hotel 

reopened in 2017 and it attracted a new patronage.Drive-in bottle shop c. 1987.
Image courtesy SGHS. P636
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Brendan Craig 2017 - Present

Brendan Craig acquired the Stirling Arms Hotel licence in April 2017 and commenced a program of renovation, 
improvement of facilities and a marketing strategy to increase his patronage by extending into tourist and 

functions while still providing dining to a local market.

Brendan saw the need and potential in the local Guildford community for an additional style of hotel. He 
purchased the Stirling Arms in April 2017, with a plan to bring it forward in time and yet acknowledge a 
glamorous bygone era. With a background as an Executive Chef, Food & Beverage Manager and Hotel 

Group General Manager, he set to task and worked hard on an extensive refurbishment of the bottle shop, 
accommodation suites, fully self-contained apartments, lounge bar, beer garden and restaurant. Brendan 

worked closely with renowned local interior designer, Fiona Hutchinson of Design Build 101. Fiona’s brief was to 
transform the run-down hotel into a 1920s Gatsby Glamour theme. She sourced the furnishings and fittings to 

give a past luxury, glamour and ambience to surprise guests, whilst still offering modern day comforts. 
Brendan’s aim was to achieve a new experience to impact the local hotel scene and the industry in general.

Team photo.
Image courtesy Brendan Craig.
Photographer: Chris Kershaw.

King Suite.
Image courtesy Brendan Craig.
Photographer: Chris Kershaw.

Presentation of Anzac Plaque by  
Guildford Association President to  
Brendan Craig.
Photographer: David Baylis –  
Community News.
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King Suite with balcony.
Image courtesy Brendan Craig.
Photographer: Chris Kershaw.

Brendan Craig 2017 - Present

1852 Lounge Bar entrance.
Image courtesy Brendan Craig.
Photographer: Chris Kershaw.

Apartment Lounge room.
Image courtesy Brendan Craig.
Photographer: Chris Kershaw.

Prohibition Bistro Bar.
Image courtesy Brendan Craig.
Photographer: Chris Kershaw.

1852 Lounge Bar.
Image courtesy Brendan Craig.
Photographer: Chris Kershaw.

Apartment Lounge room.
Image courtesy Brendan Craig.
Photographer: Chris Kershaw.
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